The Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia

Report 6/2015

# Referrals made May and June 2015

- Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France
- Royal Australian Air Force Base Williamtown Redevelopment Stage Two Project

Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public Works

August 2015 Canberra © Commonwealth of Australia 2015

978-1-74366-357-8 Printed version

978-1-74366-358-5 HTML version

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Australia License.



The details of this licence are available on the Creative Commons website: <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/</u>.

# Contents

Me	mbership of the Committee	V	
List	t of recommendations	vii	
1	Introduction	1	
	Structure of the report	2	
2	Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France		
	Conduct of the inquiry		
	History and location		
	Need for the works		
	Options considered		
	•		
	Scope of the works		
	Cost of the works		
	Committee comments	14	
3	Royal Australian Air Force Base Williamtown Redevelopment Stage Two		
	Project	17	
	Conduct of the inquiry	17	
	Need for the works		
	Options considered	19	
	Scope of the works	20	
	Community consultation		
	Cost of the works	24	

Committee comments	
Appendix A – List of Submissions	27
Appendix B – List of Hearings and Witnesses	29

# **Membership of the Committee**

- Chair Senator Dean Smith
- Deputy Chair Mr Graham Perrett MP
- Members Senator Matthew Canavan

Ms Sharon Claydon MP

Senator Alex Gallacher

Mr Ian Goodenough MP

Ms Joanne Ryan MP

Ms Fiona Scott MP

Dr Andrew Southcott MP

## **Committee Secretariat**

SecretaryDr Alison CleggA/Inquiry SecretaryDr Cathryn OllifSenior Research OfficerMs Melita CaulfieldAdministrative OfficerMrs Fiona McCann

# List of recommendations

### 2 Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France

### **Recommendation 1**

The Committee recommends that the House of Representatives resolve, pursuant to Section 18(7) of the *Public Works Committee Act 1969*, that it is expedient to carry out the following proposed work: the Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France.

### **Recommendation 2**

The Committee requires the Department of Veterans' Affairs to provide it with a progress report when the project has reached the halfway point on the anticipated delivery timeframe, in addition to the mandatory postimplementation report to be submitted within three months of project completion.

### **Recommendation 3**

The Committee recommends that the Department of Veterans' Affairs examine the work of Veterans Affairs Canada in managing the Canadian Student Guide Program in France to determine if aspects of this model can be adapted and implemented at the Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France to enhance the visitor experience.

### 3 Royal Australian Air Force Base Williamtown Redevelopment Stage Two Project

### **Recommendation 4**

The Committee recommends that the House of Representatives resolve, pursuant to Section 18(7) of the *Public Works Committee Act* 1969, that it is expedient to carry out the following proposed work: the Royal Australian Air Force Base Williamtown Redevelopment Stage 2 Project.

### **Recommendation 5**

The Committee recommends the Department of Defence work collaboratively with Port Stephens Council on the Medowie Road upgrade to achieve the best outcome for drivers, cyclists and pedestrians.

# 1

## Introduction

- 1.1 Under the *Public Works Committee Act* 1969 (the Act), the Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public Works is required to inquire into and report on public works referred to it through either house of Parliament. Referrals are generally made by the Parliamentary Secretary to the Minister for Finance.
- 1.2 All public works that have an estimated cost exceeding \$15 million must be referred to the Committee and cannot be commenced until the Committee has made its report to Parliament and the House of Representatives receives that report and resolves that it is expedient to carry out the work.<sup>1</sup>
- 1.3 Under the Act, a public work is a work proposed to be undertaken by the Commonwealth, or on behalf of the Commonwealth concerning:
  - the construction, alteration, repair, refurbishment or fitting-out of buildings and other structures;
  - the installation, alteration or repair of plant and equipment designed to be used in, or in relation to, the provision of services for buildings and other structures;
  - the undertaking, construction, alteration or repair of landscaping and earthworks (whether or not in relation to buildings and other structures);
  - the demolition, destruction, dismantling or removal of buildings, plant and equipment, earthworks, and other structures;
  - the clearing of land and the development of land for use as urban land or otherwise; and

<sup>1</sup> The *Public Works Committee Act 1969* (The Act), Part III, Section 18(8). Exemptions from this requirement are provided for work of an urgent nature, defence work contrary to the public interest, repetitive work, and work by prescribed authorities listed in the Regulations.

- any other matter declared by the regulations to be a work.<sup>2</sup>
- 1.4 The Act requires that the Committee consider and report on:
  - the purpose of the work and its suitability for that purpose;
  - the need for, or the advisability of, carrying out the work;
  - whether the money to be expended on the work is being spent in the most cost effective manner;
  - the amount of revenue the work will generate for the Commonwealth, if that is its purpose; and
  - the present and prospective public value of the work.<sup>3</sup>
- 1.5 The Committee pays attention to these and any other relevant factors when considering the proposed work.

### Structure of the report

- 1.6 The proposed projects were referred to the Committee in May and June 2015 by the Parliamentary Secretary to the Minister for Finance, The Hon Michael McCormack MP.
- 1.7 In considering the works, the Committee analysed the evidence presented by the proponent agencies, submissions and evidence received at public and in-camera hearings.
- In consideration of the need to report expeditiously as required by Section 17(1) of the Act, the Committee has only reported on significant issues of interest or concern.
- 1.9 The Committee appreciates, and fully considers, the input of the community to its inquiries. Those interested in the proposals considered in this report are encouraged to access the full inquiry proceedings available on the Committee's website.<sup>4</sup>
- 1.10 Chapter 2 of this report addresses the Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France. The estimated cost of the project is \$93.2 million.
- 1.11 Chapter 3 of this report addresses the Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF) Base Williamtown Redevelopment Stage Two Project. The estimated cost of the project is \$274 million, excluding GST.
- 1.12 Submissions are listed at Appendix A, and hearings and witnesses are listed at Appendix B.

<sup>2</sup> The Act, Section 5.

<sup>3</sup> The Act, Section 17.

<sup>4 &</sup>lt;www.aph.gov.au/pwc>.

# 2

## Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France

- 2.1 The Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA) seeks approval from the Committee to construct the Sir John Monash Centre (SJMC) behind the Australian National Memorial (ANM) in Villers-Bretonneux, France.
- 2.2 The primary objective of the project is to construct an interpretive centre and gallery which will showcase Australian materials, craftsmanship, culture and technology. When completed, the SJMC will use integrated multimedia systems and interactive displays to provide an overview of, and context for, Australian operations on the Western Front during the First World War.<sup>1</sup>
- 2.3 The estimated cost of the project is \$93.2 million.
- 2.4 The project was referred to the Committee on 13 May 2015.

## Conduct of the inquiry

- 2.5 Following referral, the inquiry was publicised on the Committee's website and via media release.
- 2.6 The Committee received one submission and one supplementary submission from DVA. A list of submissions can be found at Appendix A.
- 2.7 The Committee received a briefing from DVA and conducted public and in-camera hearings in Canberra on 26 June 2015. A transcript of the public hearing and the public submissions to the inquiry are available on the Committee's website.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> DVA, submission 1, pp. 1, 13.

<sup>2 &</sup>lt;www.aph.gov.au/pwc>

### History and location

- 2.8 During the First World War, Australian service on the Western Front was widespread, extending from the Channel Coast of Belgium in the north, to Villers-Bretonneux in the south and from there to Montebrehain in the east. Between 1916 and 1918, 290,000 Australians served and 46,000 died in this region.<sup>3</sup>
- 2.9 Villers-Bretonneux is located 143km north of Paris. It was here that the great offensive of 8 August 1918 commenced, led by Australians and Canadians. In conjunction with British offensives to the north and French offensives to the south, events at Villers-Bretonneux ultimately led to the end of the First World War.<sup>4</sup>
- 2.10 The ANM was designed by Sir Edwin Lutyens and records the names of 10,738 Australians who died in France during the First World War and who have no known grave.<sup>5</sup>
- 2.11 Australia was granted perpetual use of the ANM site by the French Government in the 1920s and in April 2015, acquired two additional parcels of land adjacent to the site.<sup>6</sup> The proposed construction site is at the rear of the ANM and on land adjacent to the Villers-Bretonneux Military Cemetery, which contains more than 2,000 graves, 731 of them Australians.<sup>7</sup> The site is located on the boundary of the Fouilloy township, approximately two kilometres from the town of Villers-Bretonneux.<sup>8</sup>

### Need for the works

- 2.12 In December 2003, Prime Minister Howard requested the then Minister for Veterans' Affairs commission a feasibility study for the establishment of an Australian visitors centre on the Western Front, where Australia's main war effort was focussed.<sup>9</sup>
- 2.13 Conducted in 2006, the feasibility study examined a number of potential sites<sup>10</sup> and stated:

For Australian visitors the facility will provide a memorable understanding of the circumstances in which their countrymen

- 7 DVA, submission 1, p. 1.
- 8 DVA, submission 1, pp. 6-7.
- 9 DVA, submission 1, p. 2.
- 10 DVA, submission 1, p. 2.

<sup>3</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 7.

<sup>4</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 11.

<sup>5</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 1.

<sup>6</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 14.

fought and died as well the indelible impact this sacrifice had on Australian society.

For European visitors, particularly students, Australia's role on the Western Front is relatively unknown. This perspective is easily changed with high quality communication. However the chance to explain Australia's involvement in the overall context of the Western Front is an opportunity to foster the bond and strengthen European relations.

This document outlines a facility of excellence in design, interpretation, communication and operation with two clear objectives:

1 To enhance all visitors' understanding of Australia's role and sacrifice at the Western Front.

2 To establish and operate an outstanding visitor facility providing international standard interpretation that serves to strengthen Australia's presence and foster European relations.<sup>11</sup>

- 2.14 Additionally, it specified the facility should be of an international standard, referring to the following characteristics:
  - Credible/authentic/authoritative:
    - ⇒ The facility is endorsed at an official/government level as the custodian of this subject, the presentation of information related to the subject and presentation to the public.
  - Accurate/scholarly:
    - ⇒ The information presented is accurate, well researched and scholarly in foundation.
  - Appropriate facility standards:
    - ⇒ The facility will be characterised by appropriate international standards of showcasing, lighting, security, and environmental control.
  - Uniqueness:
    - ⇒ A world class small museum or interpretive centre will typically contain elements that are considered unique, i.e. elements that cannot be seen or experienced anywhere else.
  - Range of experience:
    - ⇒ The visitor experience in a small world class interpretive centre will contain a range of experiences from traditional contemplative display to high impact presentation utilising

the latest in audio-visual technology to effectively communicate with the visitor.<sup>12</sup>

- 2.15 Following this, three options were developed in 2008 for constructing a centre on the ANM site.<sup>13</sup>
- 2.16 The 2009-10 Federal Budget committed \$10 million to the establishment of an Australian Remembrance Trail (the Trail) along the Western Front. French and Belgian partners committed a further \$25 million. The Trail comprises museums, interpretive centres, walking trails and extensive web based resources.<sup>14</sup>
- 2.17 In 2014, the Government confirmed it would establish the SJMC at the rear of the ANM site.<sup>15</sup> The Prime Minister reiterated this commitment in April 2015, during his address at Villers-Bretonneux, saying:

Soon, this shrine will be more than a place to mourn and reflect; it will also be a place to learn and to understand. A new centre, bearing Monash's name, will tell the whole story of Australia's part in the Allied victory here on the Western Front.<sup>16</sup>

### Expected visitors

- 2.18 The number of visitors to First World War sites across the Western Front has doubled over the period from 2005 to 2014; from 300,000-400,000 to 788,000.<sup>17</sup>
- 2.19 Despite being included in the official Trail, current visitation routes along the Western Front do not usually pass the ANM. Therefore, a key requirement of the SJMC is to be of outstanding quality and sufficiently compelling in character and impact to change patterns of visitation to the battlefields.<sup>18</sup> The interpretive design will offer visitors an experience not found elsewhere on the Western Front.<sup>19</sup> Additionally, it will provide a single day experience for those unable to take the five or more days necessary to visit all the sites along the Trail.<sup>20</sup>
- 2.20 In 2014, 47,000 people visited the ANM.<sup>21</sup> Research and modelling undertaken in 2008 estimated visitor numbers to the SJMC would reach
- 12 DVA, Facility Development Plan, 2006, p. 48.

- 14 DVA, submission 1, p. 2.
- 15 DVA, submission 1, p. 5.
- 16 DVA, submission 1, p. 3.
- 17 DVA, submission 1, p. 8.
- 18 DVA, submission 1, p. 4.
- 19 DVA, submission 1, p. 6.
- 20 DVA, submission 1, p. 2.
- 21 DVA, submission 1, p. 8.

<sup>13</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 5.

90,000 per year. In 2015 commemorative specialists revised this predicted figure to 110,000 people per year.  $^{\rm 22}$ 

- 2.21 The SJMC is targeted toward visitors of all nationalities, including Australians, and especially tourist retirees (groups and individuals) and the large number of British, French and German school students who visit the Somme battlefields. Consequently, interactive displays will be available in English, French and German.<sup>23</sup>
- 2.22 The SJMC, like similar visitor centres along the Western Front, will not charge entry fees.<sup>24</sup>

### **Options considered**

- 2.23 A number of potential sites for the centre were examined in 2006. These included Ypres, Fromelles, Bullecourt, Hazebrouck, Le Hamel, Sailly-le-Sec and Bellenglise, Pozières and Villers-Bretonneux.<sup>25</sup>
- 2.24 A Facility Development Plan (FDP) study commissioned by DVA in 2006 identified the ANM at Villers-Bretonneux as the preferred location for a centre on the basis of:
  - research and consultation amongst Australia's leading historians of the First World War identifying the ANM as the site that represents all Australian Imperial Force Divisions and as a site of a major Australian victory;
  - the site's ability to support an interpretive centre that explains the whole story of Australia's involvement on the Western Front battlefields; and
  - the location of the ANM as an appropriate site for commemoration and remembrance consistent with other national visitor centres on the Western Front (Canada, South Africa and the United Kingdom).<sup>26</sup>
- 2.25 As noted earlier, three options for constructing a centre on the ANM site were developed in 2008. Each option was assessed on appropriate design and form, accessibility and integrating with the existing site with minimal impact.<sup>27</sup>
- 2.26 During the briefing, the Committee heard that visitors could make the

<sup>22</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 8.

<sup>23</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 14.

<sup>24</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 6.

<sup>25</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 2.

<sup>26</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 2.

<sup>27</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 5.

return train trip from Paris to Villers-Bretonneux, via Amiens, in a day. Visitors can take local transport to the ANM which is approximately two kilometres from the train station at Villers-Bretonneux. There are no current plans to run a shuttle bus service, however DVA agreed this may be considered in the future.

- 2.27 Villers-Bretonneux is approximately 32 kilometres from the Anglo-French Thiepval Visitor Centre, and a further 60 kilometres from the Canadian memorial at Vimy.
- 2.28 At the public hearing, the Committee asked DVA to comment on the site in terms of location relative to other memorials along the Trail. In responding, DVA noted that it was conventional for visitors centres for each country to be located close to their own national memorial:

They [the Canadian and British interpretive centres] are both at their national memorials. So putting our interpretive centre at our national memorial is in keeping with that practice... Clearly there were other locations where Australians served with distinction on the Western Front — in Belgium and further north, principally Pozieres; perhaps Fromelles, Ypres. But at the end of the day the first AIF [Australian Imperial Force] survivors themselves and government at the time chose Villers-Bretonneux as the place for our national memorial, where the 10,700 who have no known graves are commemorated. It is our national memorial.<sup>28</sup>

2.29 The Committee found that DVA has considered multiple options to deliver the project and has selected the most suitable option.

### Scope of the works

- 2.30 Much of the new building will be below ground to reduce intrusion on the landscape. The car and bus parking areas are likewise concealed in a way that remains respectful of the site's existing cemetery and memorial and the surrounding battlefields.<sup>29</sup>
- 2.31 The SJMC comprises the following major elements:
  - an interpretive centre building of approximately 1600m<sup>2</sup> gross floor area;
  - a fit-out comprising a range of high-quality interactive, multimedia interpretive displays;
  - an immersive gallery manufactured in Australia utilising Australian materials, expertise and technology;

<sup>28</sup> Major General Dave Chalmers AO CSC, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 3.

<sup>29</sup> DVA, submission 1, pp. 6.

- a range of highly immersive and interactive multimedia content;
- an integrated building control system and leading-edge multi-language 'bring your own device' interpretive experience;
- site access road works, including staff, coach and visitor parking;
- site infrastructure and grounds maintenance facility to support the operation of the SJMC;
- significant civil, horticultural and landscaping works; and
- feature lighting to the ANM.<sup>30</sup>
- 2.32 The design will showcase Australian materials, craftsmanship, culture and technology in detailed finishes and timber panelling, unique architectural design and the multimedia control systems.<sup>31</sup>
- 2.33 The interpretive design will extend beyond internal display and entry areas to external surrounds and parking facilities.<sup>32</sup>
- 2.34 At the public hearing, the Committee sought further information on the proposed design. DVA stated that while there is a cost in constructing the facility to be partially submerged into the landscape, it is not a significant cost.<sup>33</sup>
- 2.35 DVA go on to comment:

The design of the building could have been above ground, it could have been fully underground. The design selected is, as you see, semi-underground. That is principally in order to keep its sight lines out of the view of the memorial itself so that the Lutyensdesigned memorial is not compromised by having another building sitting behind it.<sup>34</sup>

2.36 When asked if the Lutyens Trust had any hesitation regarding the works, DVA responded:

The Lutyens Trust has opposed every single development by any country in any proximity to a Lutyens' memorial. That is an article of faith for them...We did give them an indication early of what we were considering. We asked them to provide their views on the things that might shape the project. We have negotiated with them twice. The outcome of our last meeting in London in the first week of May was actually extremely positive. They made generous

- 30 DVA, submission 1, pp. 12-13.
- 31 DVA, submission 1, p. 13.
- 32 DVA, submission 1, p. 13.
- 33 Major General Dave Chalmers AO CSC, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 3.
- 34 Major General Dave Chalmers AO CSC, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 3.

acknowledgement that we had respected the work of Lutyens. They were particularly taken by the way that Cox [Architecture] had designed a building that was complimentary to the original geometry of the site and in fact became a logical extension thereof. They were particularly impressed by the fact that the building was sunken and had the roof surface that we have discussed today. They are very pleased that a couple of elements of the Lutyens' design that fell out of the project as a result of cost savings in 1937 and 1938 are going back in. They were very pleased with the unbuilt paths that we speak of.<sup>35</sup>

2.37 DVA also assured the Committee that neither the site nor design made the facility vulnerable to water damage:

We have had a geotechnical survey done on the site. We think of the Somme as being low-lying; this site is on the top of the hill. There is an excellent rock base. There is some fracturing in this. We do not anticipate drainage problems, although drainage does get some special attention in the design. There is a cost element that comes with this. But one of the things which draw us to this site – beyond the original logic of our government's decision in the 1930s – is that we own this site effectively. We purchased it in the 1920s. Under treaty arrangements we returned it to the French state. They hold it in perpetuity, in trust, for Australia's use. By having this site on which we can work almost immediately, in terms of a project which is under a very tight schedule, we are able to excise ourselves away from complex negotiations around land acquisition on any other possible site.<sup>36</sup>

### Multimedia interpretative display

- 2.38 The interpretive displays and visitor experience will be supported by a smartphone/device application and website. The SJMC will be a fully integrated building, allowing remote management and support of all building systems and multimedia displays and hardware.<sup>37</sup>
- 2.39 At the public hearing, the Committee expressed some concern over the heavy reliance on multimedia and queried the potential for incorporating a tactile-based experience. DVA responded by stating:

The multimedia approach is driving the centre largely, but there are some selected iconic objects that will be built into the centre as

<sup>35</sup> Mr Chris Appleton, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 12.

<sup>36</sup> Mr Chris Appleton, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 4.

<sup>37</sup> DVA, submission 1, p. 13.

well. The power of multimedia, particularly with emerging audiences, is that it gives us the capacity to structure an experience for school groups, so within the broader curriculum areas that are outlined within Europe and Australia we can tailor information to that particular school group and feedback information which they can take away and incorporate in projects back at school.<sup>38</sup>

2.40 Additionally, DVA commented on provisions for visitors without access to a smart phone or device:

...for those without a phone who arrive at the site, we have an explanation of the site, of the Lutyens design and of the key points. It is a screen based design and you will be able to interrogate that and get some answers from that. Of course, other people will have their phone with them on that first visit up through the site. Once visitors arrive in the building, the proposal is that there will be a small number of devices that the visitor services officers will be able to offer to visitors.<sup>39</sup>

2.41 Finally, the Committee sought assurance that the multimedia system could be adequately managed from Australia. DVA responded:

...we have been involved in the design of a number of centres within Australia – the Perth Mint and the Bombing of Darwin experience up in Darwin at East Point. The Darwin centre is built in a cyclone zone; it is quite a robust building. We can monitor that from Australia. We know exactly what is happening with the projectors. We know which piece of equipment is operating – when it is up, when it is down. We know the lamplights within projectors. We know the lamplights of screens. We know all of that kind of stuff. So, in terms of setting up a maintenance program and a maintenance schedule, that can all be built in and factored in. Of course, you do need somebody to get up a ladder at some stage, and that will be managed with management people and maintenance people in France.<sup>40</sup>

### The visitor experience

2.42 At the public hearing, the Committee commented on guided experiences offered at two war Canadian memorials in France and queried the use of Australian volunteers to act as guides.

<sup>38</sup> Mr Russell Magee, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 5.

<sup>39</sup> Mr Russell Magee, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 10.

<sup>40</sup> Mr Russell Magee, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 7.

2.43	The Student Guide Program in France is managed by Veterans Affairs
	Canada (VAC). It began in 1963 with three paid guides at the Canadian
	National Vimy Memorial in France. In 1997, the guide program expanded
	to the Beaumont-Hamel Newfoundland Memorial, also in France. <sup>41</sup>

- 2.44 Currently, the guide program employs an average of 45 Canadian students each year. Students must be bilingual and have relevant experience. While guides are needed at both sites year round, each guide is only hired for a period of four months.<sup>42</sup>
- 2.45 DVA explained to the Committee:

The interpretive approach in this centre is designed to be selfguiding. We are going to ask people to make choices about what they want to hear, the thematic line they want to follow and what language they want to hear it in. The technology of this place will allow the visitor to be located in the centre and she will cue certain things to respond as she approaches, which are in accordance with the preferences that she has recorded for visiting. So the need for someone to escort you through this place will be much less.<sup>43</sup>

2.46 Nevertheless, the Committee remains interested in exploring options to implement an Australian student guide program for the SJMC. This is discussed further under Committee comments.

### Accessibility

- 2.47 At the public hearing, the Committee queried how those with limited mobility might access the site. DVA assured the Committee the designs are fully compliant with both Australian and French access codes.<sup>44</sup>
- 2.48 DVA did, however, point out one area that was not compliant:

...the area that is not compliant is in coming up the middle of the cemetery; that is on a grassed embankment...<sup>45</sup>

2.49 In addition, DVA advised that the car park provided some access restrictions:

<sup>41</sup> Veterans Affairs Canada, accessed 28 July 2015 <http://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/remembrance/information-for/students/student-guideprogram-in-france>.

<sup>42</sup> Veterans Affairs Canada, accessed 28 July 2015 <http://www.veterans.gc.ca/eng/remembrance/information-for/students/student-guideprogram-in-france>.

<sup>43</sup> Major General Dave Chalmers AO CSC and Mr Chris Appleton, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 4.

<sup>44</sup> Mr Joe Agius, Cox Architecture, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 8.

<sup>45</sup> Mr Joe Agius, Cox Architecture, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 8.

One of the restrictions on that site is that it is a battlefield. There are the battlefield lines of sight. The reason that the car park is down there is that it is shadowed within the slope of the hill so that it is not visible from the towns on either side or even from the memorial itself. So there is quite a restriction put on us by the local planning.<sup>46</sup>

- 2.50 Provisions will be made for visitors with limited mobility; a path will run along the outside edge of the military cemetery, rather than up through the grassed section<sup>47</sup> and vehicles may drop passengers outside the building before parking.<sup>48</sup>
- 2.51 Subject to Parliamentary approval of the project, construction is expected to commence in January 2016 and be completed by October 2017. Fit-out will be completed in February 2018 ready to commemorate the centenary of the Battle of Villers-Bretonneux in April 2018.<sup>49</sup>
- 2.52 The Committee finds that the proposed scope of works is suitable for the works to meet its purpose.

### Cost of the works

- 2.53 The estimated cost of the project is \$93.2 million.
- 2.54 At the public hearing, DVA told the Committee that the capital cost for the works will be absorbed by the Department of Defence with no impact at all on programs administered by DVA or to veterans themselves.<sup>50</sup> Operating costs will be the responsibility of DVA.<sup>51</sup>
- 2.55 Additionally, the Committee queried why the SJMC was markedly more expensive than other memorials. DVA responded:

In this instance, you get what you pay for. If you are going to build an interpretive centre for an amount of \$6 million or \$10 million, then you do not get the size of interpretive space that is in this proposal, and you do not get the quality of multimedia interpretive product that we have. So the proposals that you are talking about are simpler and smaller designs.<sup>52</sup>

<sup>46</sup> Mr Ian Fletcher, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 6.

<sup>47</sup> Mr Joe Agius, Cox Architecture, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 8.

<sup>48</sup> Mr Chris Appleton, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 5.

<sup>49</sup> DVA, submission 1, pp. 1, 29.

<sup>50</sup> Major General Dave Chalmers AO CSC, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 4.

<sup>51</sup> Major General Dave Chalmers AO CSC, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 11.

<sup>52</sup> Major General Dave Chalmers AO CSC, DVA, transcript of evidence, 26 June 2015, p. 3.

### 2.56 DVA expanded on this point later in the hearing:

In the functional design brief which the Commonwealth devised, we spelt out that this building and its contents needed to be sufficiently compelling in character that they would change patterns of visitation to the battlefield, and there is a cost premium in that. The concept for interpretation you have heard outlined is without peer. That also comes at a significant cost but it is our belief that that very significant point of distinction is going to draw a new audience to this very important site.<sup>53</sup>

- 2.57 DVA provided further detail on the project costs in the confidential submission and during the in-camera hearing.
- 2.58 The Committee considers that the cost estimates for the project have been adequately assessed by DVA and the Committee is satisfied that the proposed expenditure is cost effective. As the project will not be revenue generating the Committee makes no comment in relation to this matter.

### Committee comments

- 2.59 The Committee commends DVA on its commitment to honouring Australians who have served on the Western Front. The SJMC will be an innovative and engaging way for visitors to learn about Australia's military history.
- 2.60 While acknowledging that the design of the SJMC is primarily intended to allow visitors to be self-guided, and that it is very different to the Canadian memorial at Vimy where visitors are guided through a still recognisable battlefield, the Committee believes that an equivalent Australian student guide program is worthy of further consideration. Although the SJMC facilities and location mean that it would not be appropriate to implement a program identical to that supported by VAC, the Committee believes that some aspects of the Canadian model could be adapted and implemented at the SJMC to complement and enhance the visitor experience.
- 2.61 The Committee did not identify any issues of concern with DVA's proposal and is satisfied that the project has merit in terms of need, scope and cost.
- 2.62 Proponent agencies must notify the Committee of any changes to the project scope, time, cost, function or design. The Committee also requires that a post-implementation report be provided within three months of completion of the project. A report template can be found on the Committee's website.

2.63 Having regard to its role and responsibilities contained in the *Public Works Committee Act 1969,* the Committee is of the view that this project signifies value for money for the Commonwealth and constitutes a project which is fit for purpose, having regard to the established need.

### **Recommendation 1**

2.64 The Committee recommends that the House of Representatives resolve, pursuant to Section 18(7) of the *Public Works Committee Act* 1969, that it is expedient to carry out the following proposed work: the Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France.

### **Recommendation 2**

2.65 The Committee requires the Department of Veterans' Affairs to provide it with a progress report when the project has reached the halfway point on the anticipated delivery timeframe, in addition to the mandatory post-implementation report to be submitted within three months of project completion.

### **Recommendation 3**

2.66 The Committee recommends that the Department of Veterans' Affairs examine the work of Veterans Affairs Canada in managing the Canadian Student Guide Program in France to determine if aspects of this model can be adapted and implemented at the Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France to enhance the visitor experience.

# 3

## Royal Australian Air Force Base Williamtown Redevelopment Stage Two Project

- 3.1 The Department of Defence (Defence) seeks approval from the Committee to continue redeveloping the Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF) Base at Williamtown in New South Wales.
- 3.2 The primary objectives of the project are to upgrade and replace critical infrastructure and to improve the functionality, capability, security and compliance of facilities at RAAF Base Williamtown in order to support existing base functions and future Defence capabilities.<sup>1</sup>
- 3.3 The estimated cost of the project is \$274 million, excluding GST.
- 3.4 The project was referred to the Committee on 17 June 2015.

## Conduct of the inquiry

- 3.5 Following referral, the inquiry was publicised on the Committee's website and via media release.
- 3.6 The Committee received one submission and three supplementary submissions from Defence and one submission from Mr John Donahoo. A list of submissions can be found at Appendix A.
- 3.7 The Committee received a briefing from Defence and conducted an inspection, public and in-camera hearings in Williamtown on 22 July 2015. A transcript of the public hearing and the public submissions to the inquiry are available on the Committee's website.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Defence, submission 1, p. 12.

<sup>2 &</sup>lt;www.aph.gov.au/pwc>

### Need for the works

3.8 Defence has identified RAAF Base Williamtown (the Base) as strategically important for generating air combat capability. For this reason, it has grown since its establishment in 1941 and continues to grow with changing and increasing roles and capabilities.<sup>3</sup>

### Previous works and Stage One works

- 3.9 The Australian government invested in the Base significantly with the introduction of the F/A 18 A/B (Classic Hornet) in the early 1980s.
  Subsequent investment occurred in 1992 for logistics and supply facilities on base and then in 1998 for the development of the on base Eastern Region Operations Centre.<sup>4</sup>
- 3.10 A Stage 1 Redevelopment of the Base was completed in 2004. It included a new precinct and home base for Surveillance and Response Group for the new Airborne Early Warning and Control B737 aircraft of No 2 Squadron, in addition to some engineering services upgrades.<sup>5</sup>

### Proposed Stage Two works

- 3.11 The age of infrastructure currently on the Base varies considerably and Defence has identified an urgent requirement to address deficiencies in capability, functionality, security and compliance of base facilities and infrastructure. Examples include:
  - base engineering services such as roads, parking, water, sewerage, electrical, fire and communications which are deteriorating;
  - office accommodation that is no longer functional or operationally efficient;
  - vehicle entry and search facilities that require upgrading to address security shortfalls; and
  - older facilities which do not currently meet relevant safety standards.<sup>6</sup>
- 3.12 The project proposes to provide purpose-built facilities, critical infrastructure and essential service works and adaptive reuse of some existing facilities such that they are fit for purpose, compliant and provide value for money.

- 5 Defence, submission 1, p. 2.
- 6 Defence, submission 1, pp. 2-3.

<sup>3</sup> Defence, submission 1, pp. 1-2.

<sup>4</sup> Defence, submission 1, p. 2.

- 3.13 On a site inspection, the Committee saw the ageing infrastructure and how buildings spread out over a large area would cause inefficiencies in operation.
- 3.14 The Committee is satisfied that the need for the work exists.

### **Options considered**

- 3.15 Defence explored a range of options for each of the works' elements. These included:
  - Scope element 1 new flexible office accommodation (FOA)
    - ⇒ choosing a suitable site that would meet current and future noise considerations.
    - $\Rightarrow$  selecting appropriate capacity options for the FOA (560, 680, 860 or 950 personnel).
  - Scope element 2 upgrade base engineering services infrastructure
    - $\Rightarrow$  conducting site investigations to determine extent of repair needed.
  - Scope element 3 new base entries
    - $\Rightarrow$  considering different designs and traffic flow configurations.
  - Scope element 4 new No. 4 Squadron facilities
    - ⇒ considering various combinations of building new or adaptively reusing buildings.
  - Scope element 5 car parking
    - $\Rightarrow$  considering suitable sites and layouts.
  - Scope element 6 demolition of redundant facilities
    - $\Rightarrow$  conducting a detailed review of discretionary demolition.
  - Scope element 7 office accommodation provided through adaptive reuse
    ⇒ choosing between new build, off-site leased or adaptive reuse.
- 3.16 With the aim of addressing current deficiencies and optimising future needs, Defence has chosen a combination of demolishing, constructing and adaptively reusing facilities already on the Base, according to the requirements of each scope item.<sup>7</sup>
- 3.17 The Committee found that Defence has considered multiple options to deliver the project and has selected the most suitable option for each scope element.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>7</sup> Defence, submission 1, pp. 16-18.

<sup>8</sup> Defence, submission 1, pp. 6-9.

### Scope of the works

- 3.18 Defence has separated the work into seven scope elements:
  - Scope element 1 new flexible office accommodation (FOA)
    - ⇒ construct a five-storey office building to accommodate approximately 950 personnel to support the transition of new capability and other base functions.
    - ⇒ construct an auditorium for 250 personnel as well as amenity and support functions.
  - Scope element 2 upgrade base engineering services infrastructure
    - ⇒ upgrade High Voltage System, including:
      - primary and secondary high voltage distribution network including new and
      - upgraded sub-stations;
      - upgrade Central Emergency Power Station (CEPS);
      - Local Emergency Generator Sets (LEGS); and
      - upgrade Power Control and Monitoring System (PCMS).
    - $\Rightarrow$  decommission and demolish the Base Sewage Treatment Plant (STP);
    - $\Rightarrow$  upgrade communications;
    - $\Rightarrow$  upgrade fire water mains; and
    - $\Rightarrow$  upgrade domestic water valves.
  - Scope element 3 new base entries
    - ⇒ construct new northern entrance as a hardened base entry point to operate continuously.
    - ⇒ upgrade existing southern entrance to provide additional security and access management during working hours only.
  - Scope element 4 new No. 4 Squadron facilities
    - ⇒ adaptive reuse of co-located working accommodation and hangar space.
  - Scope element 5 car parking
    - $\Rightarrow$  construct on grade car parking for up to 800 spaces.
  - Scope element 6 demolition of redundant facilities
    - ⇒ various non-heritage and heritage buildings across the Base that are currently vacant, or that will be vacated, and are not suitable for adaptive reuse or are past their useful life.
  - Scope element 7 office accommodation provided through adaptive reuse
    - ⇒ facilities suitable for adaptive reuse will be upgraded to comply with current construction codes and standards, with minor fit-out and

noise attenuation works, including roof, ceiling and glazing enhancements where necessary.<sup>9</sup>

3.19 Construction of a new playing field in the Base's recreation precinct has been proposed, should there be sufficient funds available within the budget following competitive tender for the seven scope elements.<sup>10</sup>

### **Flexible Office Accommodation**

3.20 The Committee sought clarification about the longevity of the new fivestorey flexible office accommodation building. Defence responded:

Whilst the design life indicates a period of 30 years, Defence's expectations would be that buildings that are often designed for 30 years would deliver us a longer life span than the design life. Our expectations would normally be that a building designed at 30 years would probably give a 60- or 50-year life of the building. During a life like 30 years – for example, let us say 50 years – there would be expected to be refurbishments conducted inside the building and potentially external to the building, with the cladding to the building, to ensure that it remains an energy efficient and an appropriate building to retain.<sup>11</sup>

- 3.21 Further, the Committee noted the projected increase of net operating costs for the building and queried how Defence proposed to minimise these costs. Defence responded that a new Smart Infrastructure initiative will monitor where energy efficiencies can be achieved.<sup>12</sup>
- 3.22 Additionally, Defence outlined other efficiencies to be gained from the proposed accommodation building:

I think one of the exciting opportunities that this building provides as the major element of the works is that it takes elements that are dispersed right across the air base and brings them together to deliver significant efficiencies.<sup>13</sup>

### **Demolition works**

3.23 Defence stated that many of the older buildings do not meet current building codes and safety standards; nor are they environmentally sustainable. Significant demolition works are therefore proposed.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>9</sup> Defence, submission 1, pp. 4-6.

<sup>10</sup> Defence, submission 1, p. 6.

<sup>11</sup> Colonel Ian Cumming, Defence, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 2.

<sup>12</sup> Colonel Ian Cumming, Defence, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 3.

<sup>13</sup> Colonel Ian Cumming, Defence, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 3.

<sup>14</sup> Defence, submission 1, p. 6.

3.24	At the public hearing, Defence advised that nine Commonwealth heritage-
	mentioned assets are scheduled to be demolished. Defence has sought
	approval for these demolitions from the Minister for the Environment,
	however a decision is pending. <sup>15</sup> Defence stated they intend to act in
	accordance with the Minister's decision. <sup>16</sup>

3.25 At the public hearing, the Committee sought assurances regarding the safe handling of any hazardous material that might be uncovered as a result of demolition work. The project's director responded on Defence's behalf:

We are currently undertaking investigations, and we have an asbestos register so that we know exactly what is in those buildings and how we are going to contain them. We do have environmental management plans...and control measures on how to deal with that. In relation to the public, all of those areas under demolition will be completely sealed off and there is a set process in how we do that. There are several different forms of asbestos; luckily for us the really nasty stuff is not in these buildings. We do have friable asbestos and we will be dealing with that appropriately.<sup>17</sup>

- 3.26 Demolition works will also reduce the impact of noise on the Base. Approximately 23 buildings are currently within high noise areas.<sup>18</sup> While proposed demolitions will reduce the number of buildings in this area, Defence told the Committee that some will remain.<sup>19</sup> Defence told the committee that, generally, the proposed works will move personnel further from higher-noise zones.<sup>20</sup>
- 3.27 Subject to Parliamentary approval of the project, work is expected to commence in mid-2015. Works will be progressively completed, with all works expected to be completed by late 2021.<sup>21</sup>
- 3.28 The Committee finds that the proposed scope of works is suitable for the works to meet its purpose.

22

<sup>15</sup> Colonel Ian Cumming, Defence, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 1.

<sup>16</sup> Colonel Ian Cumming, Defence, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 5.

<sup>17</sup> Mr Adrian Mulhall, Leighton Constructions, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 6.

<sup>18</sup> Defence, submission 1, p. 3.

<sup>19</sup> Colonel Ian Cumming, Defence, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 7.

<sup>20</sup> Air Commodore Steven Roberton, Royal Australian Air Force, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 6.

<sup>21</sup> Defence, submission 1, p. 26.

### Community consultation

- 3.29 During June and July 2015, Defence undertook community consultation activities consisting of:
  - detailed email correspondence with local groups and State and Federal members, with individual briefings conducted where requested;
  - advertisements in local newspapers and on radio stations; and
  - two public consultation sessions held on 2 July 2015.<sup>22</sup>
- 3.30 Specific concerns regarding the impact of works and potential increased risk of flooding to neighbouring properties were raised during public consultation, and also by Mr John Donahoo in a written submission and statement to the Committee at the public hearing.<sup>23</sup>
- 3.31 In response to earlier questions from the Committee on flooding and drainage, Colonel Cumming noted that there would be an overall reduction in the hard surface areas on the Base following demolition of a number of buildings that were no longer useful.<sup>24</sup> Defence had also previously advised residents at the consultation sessions that maintaining drains is a matter for the Port Stephens Council.<sup>25</sup>
- 3.32 Other key issues raised in the public consultation sessions included road closures, program of works, employment opportunities, and concerns regarding noise.<sup>26</sup>
- 3.33 Defence provided answers during these sessions, and expanded on the matter of road access and safety at the public hearing:

The response to community concern is aligned with our view of Medowie Road need for work. The work that is intended to be done on Medowie Road under this project will see a significant increase in the safety and the amenity of Medowie Road for the community and for the base community. We are working with the local authorities to ensure the right approvals are made. We are working with Roads and Maritime Services New South Wales to ensure that signalling devices which will be put on Medowie Road are appropriate and consistent with their needs. It is intended that the work that we do on Medowie Road will increase safety, particularly of some of those intersections, and allow us to better

<sup>22</sup> Defence, submission 1.3, p. 1.

<sup>23</sup> Mr John Donahoo, submission 2, p. 2 & transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 10.

<sup>24</sup> Colonel Ian Cumming, Defence, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 5.

<sup>25</sup> Defence, submission 1.3, p. 10.

<sup>26</sup> Defence, submission 1.3, pp. 9-12.

define the traffic flow through the base, again for work and safety reasons.<sup>27</sup>

3.34 At the public hearing, Councillor Geoffrey Dingle from Port Stephens Council commented on road safety issues:

> Port Stephens Council is responsible for the pavement on Medowie Road. Currently it is...in poor condition. I have spoken to senior council staff and there has been no consultation or discussion about the potential opportunity to upgrade the remainder of the pavement while the intersections are being upgraded. It is a unique opportunity for us to work in concert...with the contractor to upgrade the pavement between the intersection...<sup>28</sup>

3.35 Further, Councillor Dingle discussed the need to extend an existing cycleway to run between the northern gate of the Base and the Medowie-Campvale intersection.<sup>29</sup>

### Cost of the works

- 3.36 The estimated cost of the project is \$274 million, excluding GST.
- 3.37 During the in-camera hearing, the committee queried the high cost of construction for the carpark. In response, Defence drew attention to the low-lying area and advised that drainage and lighting requirements had contributed to the high cost. The Committee was subsequently satisfied.
- 3.38 Defence provided further detail on the project costs in the confidential submission and during the in-camera hearing.
- 3.39 The Committee considers that the cost estimates for the project have been adequately assessed by Defence and the Committee is satisfied that the proposed expenditure is cost effective. As the project will not be revenue generating the Committee makes no comment in relation to this matter.

### **Committee comments**

- 3.40 The Committee commends Defence's commitment to ongoing community consultation and encourages collaboration between Defence and the Port Stephens Council specifically in relation to the Medowie Road upgrade.
- 3.41 The Committee did not identify any issues of concern with Defence's proposal and is satisfied that the project has merit in terms of need, scope and cost.

<sup>27</sup> Colonel Ian Cumming, Defence, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 4.

<sup>28</sup> Councillor Geoffrey Dingle, Port Stephens Council, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 10.

<sup>29</sup> Councillor Geoffrey Dingle, Port Stephens Council, transcript of evidence, 22 July 2015, p. 10.

- 3.42 Proponent agencies must notify the Committee of any changes to the project scope, time, cost, function or design. The Committee also requires that a post-implementation report be provided within three months of completion of the project. A report template can be found on the Committee's website.
- 3.43 Having regard to its role and responsibilities contained in the *Public Works Committee Act 1969,* the Committee is of the view that this project signifies value for money for the Commonwealth and constitutes a project which is fit for purpose, having regard to the established need.

### **Recommendation 4**

3.44 The Committee recommends that the House of Representatives resolve, pursuant to Section 18(7) of the *Public Works Committee Act* 1969, that it is expedient to carry out the following proposed work: the Royal Australian Air Force Base Williamtown Redevelopment Stage 2 Project.

### **Recommendation 5**

3.45 The Committee recommends the Department of Defence work collaboratively with Port Stephens Council on the Medowie Road upgrade to achieve the best outcome for drivers, cyclists and pedestrians.

Senator Dean Smith Chair 13 August 2015

# Α

# Appendix A – List of Submissions

Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France

- 1. Department of Veterans' Affairs
  - 1.1 Confidential

Royal Australian Air Force Base Williamtown Redevelopment Stage Two Project

- 1. Department of Defence
  - 1.1 Confidential
  - 1.2 Confidential
  - 1.3 Department of Defence
- 2. Mr John Donahoo

# В

# Appendix B – List of Hearings and Witnesses

Sir John Monash Centre, Australian National Memorial, Villers-Bretonneux, France

Friday, 26 June 2015 – Canberra

**Public Hearing** 

For Department of Veterans' Affairs

Major General Dave Chalmers, First Assistant Secretary, Commemorations and War Graves, Department of Veterans' Affairs

Mr Chris Appleton, Director, Office of Australian War Graves, Department of Veterans' Affairs

Mr Ian Fletcher, Deputy Director, Overseas Projects, Office of Australian War Graves, Department of Veterans' Affairs

Mr David Freudigmann, Director, Global Project Solutions

Mr Joe Agius, Director, Cox Architecture

Dr Robert Care, Principal, Engineering Consultant, Arup Pty Limited

Mr Mark Chappe de Leonval, Director, Rider Levett Bucknall

Mr Russell Magee, Director - Interpretive Design Consultant, Convergence Associates

Dr Peter Pedersen, History Consultant

In-Camera Hearing Nine witnesses

### Royal Australian Air Force Base Williamtown Redevelopment Stage Two Project

### Wednesday, 22 July 2015 - Williamtown

### **Public Hearing**

For Department of Defence

Colonel Ian Cumming, Executive Director South East Program, Capital Facilities and Infrastructure Branch, Department of Defence Air Commodore Stephen Roberton, Senior Australian Defence Force Officer, Royal Australian Air Force Lieutenant Colonel Douglas Fox, Project Director, Capital Facilities and Infrastructure Branch, Department of Defence Mr Murray Figg, Acting Director, Estate and Facilities, Defence Support Organisation Mr Benjamin Mackey, Director, Turner Townsend Thinc, Sydney Mr Adrian Mulhall, Project Director, Leighton Constructions

For Port Stephens Council

Councillor Geoffrey Dingle, Central Ward Councillor

Private Capacity Mr John Donahoo

### **In-Camera Hearing**

Six witnesses